
 

 
CITY OF ST. AUGUSTINE  

COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY MEETING 
MONDAY, JANUARY 26, 2026 - 3:00 PM 

ALCAZAR ROOM 

 
    
1.  CALL TO ORDER 
    
  ♦  Roll Call 
    
2.  ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS 
    
  2.A.  Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (July 28, 2025)  
  2.B.  Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (October 27, 2025) 
    
3.  GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT (3 MINUTES PER INDIVIDUAL) 
    
    
4.  DISCUSSIONS, PRESENTATIONS, & UPDATES 
    

  4.A.  Institutional Rehabilitation Application: Bethel Baptist Church 
Jaime D. Perkins, Community Services Director 

  4.B.  Institutional Rehabilitation Application: First Baptist Church 
Jaime D. Perkins, Community Services Director 

  4.C.  Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Ave Streetscape Staff Update 
Jaime D. Perkins, Community Services Director 

  4.D.  Hayling Plaza Update and Interpretive Plaque Recommendation 
Jaime D. Perkins, Community Services Director 

    
5.  ITEMS BY CITY ATTORNEY 
    
    
6.  ITEMS BY CITY STAFF 
    
    
7.  ITEMS BY BOARD CHAIR AND BOARD MEMBERS 
    
    
8.  ADJOURNMENT 
    

  

A. NOTICES: In accordance with Florida Statute 286.0105: “if a person decides to appeal any decision made by the board, agency, or 
commission with respect to any matter considered at such meeting or hearing, he or she will need a record of the proceedings, and that, 
for such purpose, he or she may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony 
and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.” ***In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing special 
accommodation to participate in this proceeding should contact the individual or agency sending notice not later than seven days prior to 
the proceeding at the address given on the notice. Telephone 904-825-1007; 1-800-955-8771 (TDB) or 1-800-955-8770 (V) via Florida Relay 
Services. The materials prepared and presented are part of the City’s ongoing Florida Public Records and Government in the Sunshine 

Page 1 of 60



REGULAR AGENDA 
Page 2 of 2 
January 26, 2026 

 
compliance and are not intended to be relied upon or to reach investors or the trading markets. 
  

      
 

Page 2 of 60



CRA Meeting  
July 28,2025 

 

 
CITY OF ST. AUGUSTINE 

 
Community Redevelopment Agency 

Regular Meeting 
July 28, 2025 

 
The Community Redevelopment Agency met in formal session Monday, July 28, 2025 
at 3:00 P.M. in the Alcazar Room at City Hall.  The meeting was called to order by 
Chairwoman Nancy Sikes-Kline, and the following were present: 
 
1. Roll Call: Nancy Sikes-Kline, Chairwoman 

Barbara Blonder 
Jim Springfield 
Cynthia Garris 
Jon DePreter  

 
David Birchim, City Manager 
Isabelle Lopez, City Attorney 
Darlene Galambos, City Clerk 
Jaime D. Perkins, Director, Community Services  
Meredith Breidenstein, Assistant City Manager 
Reuben Franklin, Assistant City Manager 
Melissa Wissel, Director, Communications 
Jennifer Michaux, Police Chief 
Elyse Wiemann, Recording Secretary 

                       
2. ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS 
 
a. Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes 
(April 28, 2025) 
 
b. Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes 
(May 12, 2025) 
 
MOTION  
 
Jon DePreter MOVED to APPROVE the 
prior meeting minutes from April 28, 
2025, and May 12, 2025. The motion was 
SECONDED by Jim Springfield and 
APPROVED BY UNANIMOUS VOICE 
VOTE.  
 
3.GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT OR 
COMMENT ON AGENDA ITEMS NOT 
REQUIRING A SEPARATE COMMENT 
PERIOD (3 minutes per individual) 
 

The Agency heard from the following 
members of the public:  
 
• Denise DeClair 
• BJ Kalaidi  
• Delphine Sands  
 
4. DISCUSSION, PRESENTATIONS, & 
UPDATES 
 
a. CRA Preliminary Budget Review 
(WCCRA, LCRA, HACRA) 
Jaime D. Perkins, Community Services 
Director 
 
Jaime D. Perkins, Community Services 
Director, reviewed the preliminary budgets 
for all three special districts within the City, 
which were West City Community 
Redevelopment Area (WCCRA), 
Lincolnville Redevelopment Area (LCRA), 
and the Historic Area Community 
Redevelopment Area (HACRA). 

Page 3 of 60



CRA Meeting  
July 28,2025 

 

Ms. Sikes-Kline agreed with Ms. Kalaidi 
and requested for the budget charts to be 
made more reader friendly as the colors 
selected made it difficult to read.  
 
The Agency discussed each of the 
following budgets.  
 
West City Community Redevelopment 
Area (WCCRA) budget:  
 
• Requested money to be allocated for 

Night of Lights (NOL) as asked for by 
local business owners in the WCCRA  

• Could add lights on City properties, 
which could help the community  

• Questioned if the City or County paid 
for the lights used during NOL   

 
Mr. Birchim replied the City paid for the 
lights; however, the Tourist Development 
Council (TDC) reimbursed the City for most 
of the cost of the holiday lighting. He said 
the City had requested that they cover the 
entire cost through this current budget 
cycle and he noted that hopefully the 
Board of County Commissioners (BOCC) 
would fund the City with the $140,000 for 
the lights downtown.  
 
Mr. DePreter asked where the money 
would come from for lights to be added to 
West City. 
 
Mr. Birchim replied that the money would 
come from the WCCRA budget.  
 
Discussion continued:  
 
• Felt funds could be better used to 

assist homeowners that were in need  
• Understood City had beautiful building 

on the West side but did not feel partly 
lighting the buildings would be 
successful  

• Use the budget to help make an impact 
on residents’ homes 

Ms. Perkins stated that she could bring 
back options for the agency to review. She 
said she could reallocate funds to achieve 
both objectives. She said the money in the 
different objectives had been divided 

evenly; however, she could move $10,000 
to the Public Space Beautification and 
move more funds into Community 
Stabilization and have less in the other 
objectives, that way both options could be 
addressed.  
 
Mayor Sikes-Kline asked what vision for 
Community Stabilization was, as there was 
not a Fix-It-Up Program.  
 
Ms. Perkins replied that she wanted to 
present a plan to the Agency by the first of 
the year and try to offer some of the  
similar programs as Lincolnville to those 
residents in West City. She said there was 
a blueprint for the program, which should 
help make it easier to establish the criteria 
and guidelines. She said she had not 
anticipated having funds available this 
soon and thought the program could start 
small and gradually increase over time.  
 
Ms. Sikes-Kline said if everyone was in 
support, Ms. Perkins would reallocate 
funds for the Fix-It-Up Program and for the 
NOL to highlight the streetscape of the City 
buildings.  
 
Mr. DePreter asked who had requested the 
lights be added for the NOL season.  
 
Ms. Sikes-Kline replied that the business 
community in West City had requested it to 
be included.  
 
Lincolnville Community Redevelopment 
Area (LCRA) Budget:  
 
• Thought it was a good idea to add the 

awning on the front door at the 
Galimore Center  

• Requested percentages to be added to 
understand exactly where the funds 
were being spent and the main 
priorities  

• Asked if there was a sidewalk project in 
Lincolnville or was the money notated 
allocated to specific sidewalks  

 
Ms. Perkins replied there was not a 
specific sidewalk project identified; 

Page 4 of 60



CRA Meeting  
July 28,2025 

 

however, some residents had been 
informing them of different sidewalks that 
needed to be updated due to various 
issues. She said the plan was to identify 
the critical areas for repair.   
 
Mr. Springfield pointed out that Ms. Perkins 
had more roles other than the CRA within 
the City, and CRA should no longer be 
paying for all the department’s expenses. 
He asked if that had been considered for 
this budget process.  
 
Ms. Perkins replied in the affirmative.  
 
Discussion Continued:  
 
• Requested a graph of the growth of the 

Fix-It-Up program as it started off slow 
and had begun to flourish  

• Had increased in program participation 
after conducting a workshop  

• Thought the program was a success 
story and could serve as a model for 
the City 

• Thanked Ms. Perkins for reserving line 
items within the budget to help 
preserve future CRA programming  

• Commended CRA staff for making the 
LCRA 25th Anniversary Celebration 
successful  

• Noted a street in need of sidewalk 
repairs was LaQuinta Street  

• Felt the sidewalk repairs were much 
needed to help keep residents safe  

• Asked for an update on the property 
acquisition and affordable housing 
program  

 
Ms. Perkins replied that they had been 
instructed to put funds aside to acquire 
property in Lincolnville for an affordable 
housing program, to allow those who 
wanted to live in the area the opportunity to 
at an affordable rate. She said that 
program could range from renting or lead 
to homeownership. She said they had 
been working with Bill Lazar, St. Johns 
Housing Partnership as he was invested in 
these types of programs and had done this 
type of work throughout the county. She 
said the consulting fee was for the St. 

Johns Housing Partnership and Mr. Lazar’s 
team as they had been working together to 
develop map and other resources for the 
program.  
 
Mr. DePreter asked if the purpose was to 
purchase property or partner with the non-
profit.  
 
Ms. Perkins replied that the idea was for 
the City to own the property and to have 
the St. Johns Housing Partnership help 
with property management.  
 
Historic Area Community 
Redevelopment Area (HACRA):  
 
• Pleased to see the sidewalks included 

in the budget as sidewalks were an 
important issue  
 

Ms. Sikes-Kline felt there was a rather 
large budget for administrative line item 
between the three redevelopment areas 
totaling $290,000. She said this was not a 
complaint, but she wanted to point it out.  
 
Ms. Perkins replied that those funds were 
not only for staffing but for shared 
expenses. She said she would speak with 
Meredith Breidenstein, Assistance City 
Manager and Melissa Burns, Finance 
Director, both who assist with the budget 
process to see if there was a way to 
reduce the administrative cost.  
 
Ms. Sikes-Kline clarified that it was not 
about reducing the budget but more about 
what exactly the money was being used 
for.  
 
Mr. Springfield commented that Ms. 
Perkins served as the Project Manager on 
most projects with the CRA, which saved 
more money than hiring an outside 
contractor or project manager. He said with 
that in mind he thought the money was 
being well spent.     
 
b. MLK Streetscape Project Staff Update 
Jaime D. Perkins, Community Services 
Director 

Page 5 of 60



CRA Meeting  
July 28,2025 

 

Jaime D. Perkins provided a brief update 
on the Martin Luther King Avenue 
Streetscape (MLK) update and advised the 
plans were at 90% and close for 
construction bids. She said the projected 
cost for the project was estimated around 
seven million dollars and set aside 
currently was an estimated one million 
dollars. She said funds were the major  
challenge with the project. She said they 
applied for the RAISE grant but were 
denied. She said they were seeking other 
opportunities to assist with funding.  She 
said the second part of the plan was to put 
the electricity from overhead to 
underground, and that would require 
easements along the MLK corridor, and 
most would be on private property as noted 
by Florida Power and Light (FPL). She said 
they were working with the landscape 
architect to make the area beautiful prior to 
approaching the residents to ask for 
permanent easements.   
 
Barbara Blonder said she had requested in 
the past to have more shade trees along 
the sidewalks and throughout the City. She 
asked if that was part of this plan.  
 
Ms. Perkins replied that there were some 
plantings along MLK and those were 
identified within the design documents. 
She said they were working on adding 
additional  shade trees throughout the 
Lincolnville area.  
.  
 
c. Downtown Landscape Masterplan 
Staff Update 
Jaime D. Perkins, Community Services 
Director 
 
Jaime D. Perkins, Community Services 
Director, introduced Jeremy Marquis, 
Marquis, Latimer, & Halback Landscaping 
Architecture , the landscape consultants for 
the Downtown Landscape Masterplan.  
 
Jeremy Marquis, Architect and Caeli Tolar, 
Project Manager from Marquis, Latimer & 
Halback Landscaping Architecture 

provided a brief overview of the Downtown 
Landscape Masterplan.  
 
Ms. Sikes-Kline questioned if the proposed 
plants were salt-tolerant as a lot of these 
locations held water.  
 
Mr. Marquis replied in the affirmative. He 
said they worked hard to make sure the 
plants selected for the different areas were 
salt tolerant.  
 
Mr. Springfield questioned the 
maintenance on trees in the middle of the 
roads, and the Iris’ on St. George Street. 
He questioned if there would be an 
irrigation system.  
 
Mr. Marquis replied that the Iris plants 
should not require a lot of maintenance; 
however, they had discussed doing 
structural pruning on the trees to ensure 
they were ready for hurricane season. He 
advised the maintenance was unable to be 
funded through the CRA but could through 
Capital Improvement. He said for the level 
one projects, which were the quick 
turnaround projects, they would update the 
irrigation onsite, but for the level two 
projects, those would be a full retro fit.  
 
Ms. Blonder said she loved the emphasis 
on the native plants and that the concept of 
the native garden was developed by the 
Audubon Society. She said there were four 
species of plants repeated throughout the 
plan that were not native and thought those 
could be replaced with other  native plants.  
 
Mr. Marquis stated he understood and 
thought that was a fair observation. He 
pointed out that they were trying to use 
native plants; however, if it was not native, 
they wanted it to be a Florida friendly plant.  
 
Mr. DePreter said his concerns with 
irrigation and saltwater intrusion had been 
addressed.  
 
Ms. Sikes-Kline said she had not seen 
anything notating the Spanish Trail Ball, 

Page 6 of 60



CRA Meeting  
July 28,2025 

 

which was on the southside of the Visitors 
Information Center(VIC).  
 
Mr. Marquis said that area was not 
specified for landscape improvement; 
however, they would look at it in more 
detail.  
 
Ms. Sikes-Kline said she felt a sidewalk 
could be added as a dirt path had been 
created due to pedestrian traffic.   
 
Mr. Marquis advised that this could be 
added to the list as a hard-scape 
improvement area.  
 
Mr. Springfield reiterated adding signage to 
the planting and the reasons for the native 
landscaping. He said Ms. Blonder had 
suggested that in the past and he felt it 
was a great idea.  
 
Mr. Marquis said he was in support of that, 
and it could be a great educational 
opportunity.  
 
5. ITEMS BY CITY ATTORNEY 
 
(None) 
 
6. ITEMS BY CITY STAFF 
 
(None) 
 
7. ITEMS BY BOARD CHAIR AND 
BOARD MEMBERS 
 
Mr. Springfield thanked the staff for being 
proactive in limiting the state from taking 
away the rights of the CRA by adding the 
budgetary line item.  
 
Ms. Sikes-Kline said there was one more 
anniversary celebration, which was for the 
HACRA. She said the HACRA was the 
oldest CRA as it was established in 2000. 
She encouraged everyone to keep an eye 
out for details and hoped everyone could 
attend. 
 
 
 

8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, the 
meeting was adjourned at 4:19 P.M. 
 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Nancy Sikes-Kline, Chairwoman  
 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
 
Darlene Galambos, CITY CLERK 
 

Page 7 of 60



 

 

CITY OF ST. AUGUSTINE 
 

Community Redevelopment Agency 
Regular Meeting 
October 27, 2025 

 
 
The Community Redevelopment Agency met in formal session Monday, October 
27,2025, at 3:00 P.M. in the Alcazar Room at City Hall.  The meeting was called to order 
by Chairwoman Nancy Shaver, and the following were present: 
 
1. Roll Call: Nancy Sikes-Kline, Chairwoman 

Barbara Blonder  
Cynthia Garris 
Jim Springfield 
Jon DePreter 

 
Also Present:  

David Birchim, City Manager 
Isabelle Lopez, City Attorney  
Darlene Galambos, City Clerk 
Meredith Breidenstein, Assistant City Manager 
Reuben Franklin, Assistant City Manager 
Jaime D. Perkins, Director, Community Services 
Jill Collins, Neighborhood Services & CRA Administrative Coordinator 
Melissa Wissel, Director, Communications 
Jennifer Michaux, Police Chief 
Elyse Wiemann, Senior Recording Secretary 

                       
2. ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS  
 
a. Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes 

(August 28, 2025) 
 
b. Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes 
(September 11, 2025)   
 
MOTION  
 
Jim Springfield moved to APPROVE the 
minutes from August 28, 2025, and 
September 11, 2025, as presented. The 
motion was SECONDED by Barbara 
Blonder and APPROVED BY 
UNIMINAOUS VOICE VOTE. 
 
3. GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT OR 
COMMENT ON AGENDA ITEMS NOT 
REQUIRING SEPARATE COMMENT 
PERIOD (3 minutes per individual) 

 
The Board heard from the following 
member of the public: 
 
• BJ Kalaidi  
 
4. DISCUSSION, PRESENTATIONS, & 
UPDATES 
 
Jaime D. Perkins explained that this was 
the beginning stages and an overview of 
Cordova Street and the Francis Field 
Improvement projects.  
 
a. Cordova Street Improvement 
Presentation  
Viviana Castro, Inspire Placemaking 
Collective  
 
Viviana Castro, Inspire Placemaking 
Collective, provided a brief overview of the 

Page 8 of 60



  CRA Meeting 
October 27,2025 

2 
 

Cordova Street Improvement. She 
provided more information on the following 
items:  
 
• Two community workshops were held, 

and input was gathered from the 
community 

• Guiding principles were created: design 
for people first, celebrate local identity, 
green the street, and create spaces to 
gather, reflect, and move 

• Wanted curbless streets as it had been 
successful in other areas in the City 

 
Cynthia Garris said she liked the design 
but was concerned about the crosswalk. 
She said Cordova Street was busier than 
Hypolita Street and it had the same design. 
She felt it may not be the best fit for both 
vehicles and pedestrians.  
 
Ms. Castro replied that, on the master plan, 
there were key intersections where 
chicanes were encouraged, and it helped 
to naturally slow vehicles to avoid hitting 
planters.  She said decreasing the lane 
size to ten feet would help bring a bit of 
curvature helping to decrease the speed of 
vehicles.  
 
Ms. Garris asked if signage would be  
added to make drivers aware of the 
slowdowns.  
 
Ms. Castro replied that there should be.  
 
Mr. Springfield commented that in order to 
have the tree canopy, it was important to 
have power underground. He asked if 
there had been any discussions regarding 
having power underground.  
 
Ms. Castro replied there having 
underground utilities was the goal and was 
the only way this would be possible.  
 
Ms. Perkins added that when the project 
entered design phase was when the 
discussion with Florida Power and Light 
would take place to identify that the utilities 
could be placed underground. She said the 

concept showed that the transition would 
take place.   
 
Mr. Springfield added that the power was 
above ground over Cordova Street but 
underground once you crossed onto St. 
George Street. He said the trees were 
important, and the history was as well. He 
said while learning more about the horse 
and carriages, he found out that pavers 
held water and horses could slip on them. 
He felt there needed to be an area where 
the horses could rest that was not pavers.  
 
Jon DePreter said this was moving in a 
good direction and agreed that when 
leaving the Visitors Information Center 
(VIC) it was not pedestrian friendly and felt 
this should be. He said it was more of an 
expansion of what was taking place in the 
core of the City and he was very supportive 
of that.  He said once people started to 
understand that Cordova Street was more 
pedestrian orientated it would help slow 
things down, and perception made a big 
difference. He questioned what a 
stormwater cell was.  
 
Ms. Castro replied that a stormwater cell 
provided more space for roots to take hold 
and allowed more space to hold water 
around the roots of the trees, while 
allowing roots to expand. She understood 
that the City’s resiliency department was 
working on that and she wanted to 
incorporate that into this project.  
 
Ms. Blonder said she loved the design. 
She said she was concerned with how the 
roots might impair the stormwater cell 
similar to how roots impacted sewer 
systems. She asked if that was part of the 
design.  
 
Ms. Castro said that was one of the goals 
with the cells. She said they helped provide 
space for the roots instead of forcing them 
to climb up. She pointed out these would 
be put lower to avoid them from taking over 
the pavers.  
 

Page 9 of 60



  CRA Meeting 
October 27,2025 

3 
 

Ms. Blonder explained that for the past 
twenty-three years she had been utilizing 
all forms of transportation to commute to 
Flagler College and as a pedestrian, 
people entering and exiting the street was 
more of a traffic calming device as it 
helped to slow vehicles down now.  She 
said she liked chicanes and as a cyclist 
she was in support of sharing the lane with 
the vehicles, but if she was in a hurry she 
would use an alternative street. She said 
overall, she felt the curbless environment 
would be beneficial.   
 
Nancy Sikes-Kline said this reminded her a 
lot of “Transits Greenways” under former 
Mayor Len Weeks, which encouraged 
people to walk more. She said she loved 
the idea of the chicanes, slowing the traffic 
down, the creation of a sense of place; 
however, felt that we should be mindful 
that businesses were operating along that 
street. She agreed that moving the power 
underground was critical. She said one 
thing lacking was identifying how important 
aesthetics were and the components within 
the plan, she asked for that to be noted. 
She said to help keep people interested 
and keep people walking more, historic 
markers could be incorporated as focal 
points.  
 
Ms. Castro explained in the eastern old 
town center area, coquina would be used 
as an aggregate with the concrete in 
contrast to the paver area. She said in the 
report there would be wayfinding and 
signage for people to understand the key 
markers along the street.  
 
Ms. Sikes-Kline questioned the pavers 
versus the coquina. She said there were 
downtown design standards and asked if 
the pavers were included in those 
standards.  
 
Ms. Castro replied the pavers were 
incorporated, and the tone would tie into 
the Model Land Company to reflect the 
historic Flagler era.  
 

b. Francis Field Improvement 
Presentation  
Jeremy Marquis, Marquis, Latimer & 
Halback 
 
Jeremy Marquis, Marquis, Latimer & 
Halback, provided a brief overview of the 
Francis Field Improvements. He said the 
overall goals were for the field to be:    
 
• Park 
• Family oriented 
• Improve daily activity  
• Support community events and music  
• Resiliency and hurricane preparedness  
 
Mr.  Springfield said the Ferris wheel could 
be controversial and out of proportion. He 
said having a park across from the parking 
garage was in the original design and 
should be one of the main entrances to the 
City. He stated the way it currently looked 
was not aesthetically pleasing and there 
was no park downtown. He said the only 
park near downtown was in north city and it 
was utilized daily. He felt there was a real 
need for a park for the community. He 
understood that events would need to be 
accounted for in the design and historically 
it was a professional baseball field, which 
he thought  could also be incorporated. He 
said the design showed many trees 
allowing for a lot of shade, which would 
allow many other events to take place in 
the park and that  was a benefit. He noted 
a dog park was not in the design and 
questioned if one was considered. He said 
he was very supportive of the plan.  
 
Mr. Marquis replied that a dog park was 
considered and just north of the pickle ball 
courts, a dog park could be added.  
 
Ms. Garris was in support of the design but 
felt the Ferris wheel was a big concern and 
did not believe the City had the ability to 
maintain it and it was a  liability. She 
suggested having a carousel  there as it 
could be a better and more practical fit. 
She said with a carousel at this location, it 
could have better parking and bathroom 

Page 10 of 60



  CRA Meeting 
October 27,2025 

4 
 

access. She said the addition of the trees 
would provide a better and more inviting 
experience for those visiting the park.  
 
Ms. Blonder agreed she was not 
supportive of the Ferris wheel; however, 
though there were many people who 
wanted to have the carousel back. She 
was in support of having a downtown park  
that would be open and available to both 
locals and visitors alike, as it could be a 
benefit to the business community in many 
ways. She said many events that took 
place on the field had become part of the 
City’s identity. She added there were new 
pickle ball courts in Eddie Vickers Park and 
the county was increasing inventory for 
pickle ball; therefore, she thought the 
green space could be used as a flex green 
space. She said overall this was a great 
idea. 
 
Mr. DePreter thanked Mr. Marquis for the 
presentation and said the ability to use this 
area for stormwater was exciting as this 
was a vast amount of property. He said this 
area should be used in a resilient way and 
encouraged them to develop innovative 
solutions. He asked if the community stage 
would always remain.  
 
Mr. Marquis replied that the idea was for 
the stage to be there the majority of the 
time unless it needed to be removed for 
certain events such as Sing Out Loud.  
 
Mr. DePreter asked if the coordinators of 
Sing Out Loud had been consulted.   
 
Mr. Marquis replied in the affirmative. He 
said they spoke to them because they had 
the largest infrastructure needs, which in 
return would help with the infrastructure 
needs of the smaller events.  
 
Mr. DePreter added that he did not like the 
oval shape, as it made it have a feel more 
formal. He thought having more of a 
meandering feel would develop more of a 
central park feel, which was a classic park  
aesthetic. He said the area was flat and if 

the grade could be adjusted, it might help 
make it feel more natural.  
 
Ms. Sikes-Kline said there was a picnic 
area outside the municipal parking garage, 
she asked if the picnic area was being 
relocated to the park.  
 
Isabelle Lopez, City Attorney, commented 
that the picnic area closest to Orange 
Street could not be moved as it was 
specific to school board tour groups, and 
had to remain.  
 
Ms. Sikes-Kline said there was a lack of 
restrooms in the City and she felt this could 
be an opportunity to add more. She said 
signage should be added for a sense of 
arrival.  She was not in favor at the Ferris 
wheel but was open to having a carousel 
as she knew the community missed the 
absence of that. She said she loved that 
the flexibility for events would remain and 
that an even better civic asset was being 
created.   
 
c. LCRA Fix-It-Up Residential Repair 
Program Staff Report 
Jill Collins, Neighborhood Services & 
CRA Administrative Coordinator  
 
Jill Collins, Neighborhood Services & CRA 
Administrative Coordinator, provided a 
brief financial update,  an overview of the 
past fiscal year (FY) for the Fix-It-Up 
program,  and what to expect during FY 
2026.  
 
Ms. Blonder said this was a wonderful 
program and helped keep people where 
they lived and beautified the neighborhood.   
 
Ms. Sikes-Kline felt the program was  
accomplishing the vision and she 
appreciated all the efforts put into the 
program.  
 
 
 
 

Page 11 of 60



  CRA Meeting 
October 27,2025 

5 
 

d. WCCRA Residential Repair Program 
Proposal 
Jaime D. Perkins, Community Services 
Director 
 
Jaime D. Perkins, Community Services 
Director, explained that the West City 
Community Redevelopment Area Plan was 
adopted in early 2025. She said in 
September, as requested, revisions to the 
budget were made to prioritize the 
Community Stabilization element of the 
plan and with that, the housing repair 
program was established, similar to the 
one in Lincolnville Community 
Redevelopment Area (LCRA). She  said at 
this time the only difference to the program 
would be the name, which was Revive and 
Restore Residential Repair Program, and 
the grant awards would be $25,000. She 
said with this award amount, the program 
would be able to assist at least five 
homeowners at the maximum award value 
or more if the full amount was not needed. 
She said the program would begin in 
January 2026.  
 
Ms. Sikes-Kline said this was the primary 
reason the CRA was created statutorily, 
and it was exciting to be able to help at 
least five residents so quickly. She thanked 
Ms. Perkins for being very aggressive with 
the program  and she was in full support.  
 
Ms. Garris was in support of the starting 
point for the award amount, and this would 
benefit so many residents in the WCCRA.  
 
MOTION  
 
Ms. Garris MOVED to APPROVE the 
WCCRA Residential Repair Program as 
proposed.  The motion was SECONDED 
by Ms. Blonder  
 
Mr. DePreter asked if  this was specific to 
Community Stabilization. 
Ms. Perkins replied that the reason the 
Community Stabilization section was 
highlighted was because it was the 
justification to establish this program.  

 
Mr. DePreter said he was in support of the 
program. He commented that on the King 
Street Streetscape Infrastructure 
Improvements, there was a notation that 
identified other streets that could be 
considered for improvements.  
 
Mr. Springfield asked Ms. Perkins if she 
knew how the number of homes were in 
the WCCRA compared to LCRA.  
 
Ms. Perkins replied that data had been 
collected and was available in the Findings 
of Necessity study; however, she did not 
have that information readily available but 
would provide that information as soon as 
possible.  
 
Mr. Springfield said he assumed it was 
more than LCRA and a little over three 
years ago, there had been difficulty getting 
homeowners to apply for the program in 
Lincolnville; however, he commended Ms. 
Perkins for her development of the 
program and knew she would have many 
applications for the WCCRA program. He 
said he was in support.  
 
Ms. Perkins commented there was already 
a wait list for the program.  
 
Ms. Blonder said there was already a great 
program model and it was being 
implemented into a very similar area. She 
said many were concerned with 
gentrification and this was a way to get 
ahead of it.  
 
VOTE ON MOTION:  
AYES: Garris, Blonder, DePreter, 
Springfield, Sikes-Kline  
NAYES: NONE 
MOTION APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
5. ITEMS BY CITY ATTORNEY  
 
(None)  
 
 
 

Page 12 of 60



  CRA Meeting 
October 27,2025 

6 
 

6. ITEMS BY CITY STAFF 
 
(None) 
 
7. ITEMS BY BOARD CHAIR AND 
BOARD MEMBERS 
 
Ms. Blonder announced that the 25th 
Anniversary Celebration for the Historic 
Area Community Redevelopment Area 
(HACRA) would be taking place on 
Thursday, October 30, 2025. 
 
Ms. Garris commented on Wednesday, 
October 29, 2025, that the ribbon cutting 
for the Day Center would take place.   
 
8. ADJOURNMENT  
 
There being no further business, the 
meeting was adjourned at 4:13 P.M.1 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Nancy Sikes-Kline, CHAIRWOMAN 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Darlene Galambos, CITY CLERK 
 

 
1 Transcribed by Elyse Wiemann 

Page 13 of 60



 
 
 

CITY OF ST. AUGUSTINE 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
TO: The Honorable Chair and Board Members 
 City of St. Augustine Community Redevelopment Agency  
  
DATE: January 15, 2026 
 
RE:  Agenda Item for January 26,2026 Community Redevelopment Agency Meeting;  

Institutional Rehabilitation Application Recommendation: Bethel Baptist Church  
  
 The Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA) accepts applications for the Lincolnville 
Community Redevelopment Area (LCRA) Institutional Rehabilitation Grant Program between 
October 1 and December 31 of each calendar year. In December of 2025, staff received an 
application from Bethel Baptist Church, requesting funds to complete a historic preservation 
rehabilitation project. The estimated grant request and cost for restoration is $1,000,000.  
 
 Funding is not currently available to complete this project; however, funds may be 
available to initiate the architectural design phase. Staff intend to coordinate with the applicant to 
identify alternative funding opportunities, place the project on the waitlist, and prepare the 
appropriate budget recommendations for consideration in the upcoming fiscal year. 
 

This is an action item. This matter requires the CRA to make a motion and participate in a 
formal vote. Your attention to this matter is appreciated. I am available for any questions you may 
have. Please feel free to contact me by phone at 904.209.4254 or by email at 
jperkins@CityStAug.com.  
  
Respectfully Submitted,  

 
 
 
 

Jaime D. Perkins  
Director, Community Services 
 
Attachments: Institutional Rehabilitation Application 
 
cc: City Manager, Assistant City Managers, City Attorney, & Department Directors  
 

Page 14 of 60

mailto:jperkins@citystaug.com


Page 15 of 60



Page 16 of 60



Page 17 of 60



Page 18 of 60



Page 19 of 60



Page 20 of 60



Page 21 of 60



Page 22 of 60



Page 23 of 60



Page 24 of 60



Page 25 of 60



Page 26 of 60



Page 27 of 60



Page 28 of 60



Page 29 of 60



Page 30 of 60



Page 31 of 60



Page 32 of 60



Page 33 of 60



Page 34 of 60



Page 35 of 60



Page 36 of 60



Page 37 of 60



Page 38 of 60



Page 39 of 60



Page 40 of 60



Page 41 of 60



Page 42 of 60



 
 
 

CITY OF ST. AUGUSTINE 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
TO: The Honorable Chair and Board Members 
 City of St. Augustine Community Redevelopment Agency  
  
DATE: January 15, 2026 
 
RE:  Agenda Item for January 26,2026 Community Redevelopment Agency Meeting;  

Institutional Rehabilitation Application Recommendation: First Baptist Church  
  
 The Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA) accepts applications for the Lincolnville 
Community Redevelopment Area (LCRA) Institutional Rehabilitation Grant Program between 
October 1 and December 31 of each calendar year. In October of 2025, staff received an application 
from First Baptist Church, requesting funds to complete a historic preservation rehabilitation 
project to the church parsonage. The estimated grant request and cost for restoration is $850,000. 
The restoration of the parsonage was a part of the applicants’ 2020 approved application.  
 
 Funding is not currently available to complete this project; however, funds may be 
available to initiate the architectural design phase. Staff intend to coordinate with the applicant to 
identify alternative funding opportunities, place the project on the waitlist, and prepare the 
appropriate budget recommendations for consideration in the upcoming fiscal year. 
 

This is an action item. This matter requires the CRA to make a motion and participate in a 
formal vote. Your attention to this matter is appreciated. I am available for any questions you may 
have. Please feel free to contact me by phone at 904.209.4254 or by email at 
jperkins@CityStAug.com.  
 
 Respectfully Submitted,  

 
 
 
 

Jaime D. Perkins  
Director, Community Services 
 
Attachments: Institutional Rehabilitation Application 
 
cc: City Manager, Assistant City Managers, City Attorney, & Department Directors  

Page 43 of 60

mailto:jperkins@citystaug.com


Page 44 of 60



Page 45 of 60



Page 46 of 60



Page 47 of 60



Page 48 of 60



Page 49 of 60



Page 50 of 60



Page 51 of 60



Page 52 of 60



Page 53 of 60



Page 54 of 60



Page 55 of 60



Page 56 of 60



 
 
 

CITY OF ST. AUGUSTINE 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
TO: The Honorable Chair and Board Members 
 City of St. Augustine Community Redevelopment Agency  
  
DATE: January 15, 2026 
 
RE:  Agenda Item for January 26,2026 Community Redevelopment Agency Meeting;  

Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Ave Streetscape Project Update 
  
 Staff continue to make efforts to progress the MLK Streetscape Project. An update 
regarding the status of the project will be provided.      
 

There is no action required on this item I am available for any questions you may have. 
Please feel free to contact me by phone at 904.209.4254 or by email at jperkins@CityStAug.com.  
 
 Respectfully Submitted,  

 
 
 
 

Jaime D. Perkins  
Director, Community Services 
 
cc: City Manager, Assistant City Managers, City Attorney, & Department Directors  
 

Page 57 of 60

mailto:jperkins@citystaug.com


 
 
 

CITY OF ST. AUGUSTINE 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
TO: The Honorable Chair and Board Members 
 City of St. Augustine Community Redevelopment Agency  
  
DATE: January 15, 2026 
 
RE:  Agenda Item for January 26,2026 Community Redevelopment Agency Meeting;  

Hayling Plaza Update and Interpretive Plaque Recommendation  
  

The proposed Hayling Plaza at Dr. Robert B. Hayling Freedom Park is fully designed, and 
all required permits have been obtained. As the project advances to the construction phase, 
interpretive language for the commemorative plaque must be finalized. Staff requests that the CRA 
Board review the attached draft text and provide direction prior to finalization. 
 

This is an action item. Staff request a vote or consensus to determine next steps.  I am 
available for any questions you may have. Please feel free to contact me by phone at 904.209.4254 
or by email at jperkins@CityStAug.com.  
 
 Respectfully Submitted,  

 
 
 
 

Jaime D. Perkins  
Director, Community Services 
 
Attachments: Interpretive Plaque Text 
 
cc: City Manager, Assistant City Managers, City Attorney, & Department Directors  
 

Page 58 of 60

mailto:jperkins@citystaug.com


Dr. Robert B. Hayling, Jr. 

1930–2015 

Dr. Robert B. Hayling, Jr. was a dentist, civil rights leader, and a central figure in the struggle for 
racial justice in St. Augustine, Florida. In the early 1960s, he emerged as one of the city’s most 
courageous advocates for equality, confronting segregation, voter suppression, and racial violence 
in the nation’s oldest city. 

As president of the St. Augustine NAACP Youth Council and a leader of the Movement for 
Nonviolent Civil Disobedience, Dr. Hayling organized and sustained direct-action campaigns to 
dismantle segregation in public accommodations, employment, and civic life. These efforts 
included marches, sit-ins, and mass demonstrations that challenged discriminatory practices at 
restaurants, hotels, beaches, and public facilities. 

Between 1963 and 1964, St. Augustine became a national focal point of the Civil Rights 
Movement. Peaceful demonstrators led by Dr. Hayling were met with arrests, intimidation, and 
mob violence, including attacks at the Monson Motor Lodge, Woolworth’s lunch counter, and 
throughout the city’s historic district. Images and reports from St. Augustine shocked the nation 
and revealed the brutal realities of segregation to a national audience. 

Despite repeated threats to his life, economic retaliation, and physical danger, Dr. Hayling 
remained steadfast in his commitment to nonviolent protest and democratic principles. His 
leadership drew the attention of national civil rights organizations and leaders, including Dr. 
Martin Luther King, Jr., and helped create the moral urgency that led to the passage of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1964. 

Dr. Hayling’s activism transformed St. Augustine’s place in American history. His legacy endures 
in the freedoms secured through the Civil Rights Movement and in the ongoing pursuit of justice, 
dignity, and equal opportunity. This park honors his life, his sacrifice, and his unwavering belief 
that ordinary citizens can bring about extraordinary change. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59 of 60



Optional Quotation Inset (Recommended for Statue Plaque) 

“We were not trying to create disorder. We were trying to create justice.” 
— Dr. Robert B. Hayling, Jr. 

 

 

Florida Historical Marker–Style Attribution (Optional Footer) 

Erected by the City of St. Augustine, funded by the Lincolnville Community 
Redevelopment Area 
in recognition of Dr. Robert B. Hayling, Jr.’s leadership in the Civil Rights Movement and his 
enduring impact on local and national history. 

Page 60 of 60


	1. CALL TO ORDER
	 Roll Call

	2. ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS
	A. Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (July 28, 2025)
	CRA Minutes Shell 07.28.25_unbound_Final

	B. Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (October 27, 202
	CRA Minutes 10.27.25 Shell_unbound_Final


	3. GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT (3 minutes per individual)
	4. DISCUSSIONS, PRESENTATIONS, & UPDATES
	A. Institutional Rehabilitation Application: Bethel B
	JPerkins-CRA Memo-IRP Bethel Baptist
	Bethel Baptist Application_12.30.25

	B. Institutional Rehabilitation Application: First Ba
	JPerkins-CRA Memo-IRP First Baptist Parsonage
	First Baptist Church 10.06.25

	C. Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Ave Streetscape Staff U
	JPerkins-CRA Memo-MLK Streetscape Update

	D. Hayling Plaza Update and Interpretive Plaque Recom
	JPerkins-CRA Memo-RBH Plaque Text
	Interpretive Signage for Hayling Plaza_JDP


	5. ITEMS BY CITY ATTORNEY
	6. ITEMS BY CITY STAFF
	7. ITEMS BY BOARD CHAIR AND BOARD MEMBERS
	8. ADJOURNMENT
	A. NOTICES: In accordance with Florida Statute 286.01




